
  
BELLBROOK CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 
August 9, 2021 
 
7:00 pm-Regular Meeting 

1. Call to Order 

2. Pledge of Allegiance  

3. Roll Call 

4. Approval of the minutes of the July 26 meeting 

5. Mayor’s Announcements and Special Guest 

• Beautification Awards – Presented by Rob and Michelle Johnson 

6. Public Hearing of Ordinances - none 

7. Introduction of Ordinances - none 

8. Resolutions 

• Resolution 2021-AA An Emergency Resolution by Bellbrook City Council to Accept the 
Material Terms of The OneOhio Subdivision Settlement Pursuant to The OneOhio 
Memorandum of Understanding and Consistent with the Terms of the July 21, 2021, 
National Opioid Settlement Agreement (Havens) 

9. Old Business 

10. New Business 

11. City Manager Report 

12. Committee Reports  

A. Service 
B. Safety 
C. Finance/Audit  
D. Community Affairs – opening on the Records Commission 

13. Clerk’s Update 

14. Open Discussion 

15. Public Comment 

16. Adjournment 

 

Future Agenda Items (dates are subject to change) 

• October 11 – 6pm Budget Work Session– Administration & Service Departments  
• October 25 - 6pm Budget Work Session– Police & Fire Departments 
• November 8 – 6pm Budget Work Session– Capital Improvement Plan  

City of Bellbrook 
15 E. Franklin Street 
Bellbrook, Ohio  45305 

T (937) 848-4666 
F (937) 848-5190 

www.cityofbellbrook.org 



• November 22 – Introduction of 2022 Budget Ordinance 
• December 13 - Public Hearing of 2022 Budget Ordinance  

 



RECORD OF PROCEEDINGS 
Minutes of Bellbrook City Council Work Session and Regular Meeting 

July 26, 2021 
 

   1  

PRESENT: TJ Hoke 
  Ernie Havens 

Dr. Van Veldhuizen 
Forrest Greenwood  

  Elaine Middlestetter (arrived at 6:20) 
Mayor Mike Schweller 

   
ALSO PRESENT:   City Manager Melissa Dodd, Russ Gatermann from Terracon Consultants 

 

WORK SESSION 

Mayor Schweller called the work session to order at 6:00 pm.   

 

ROLL CALL 

Mr. Hoke, yes; Mr. Havens, yes; Dr. Van Veldhuizen; Mr. Greenwood, yes; Mrs. Middlestetter, yes; Mayor 

Schweller, yes. 

Mr. Greenwood made a motion to excuse Mrs. Middlestetter from the work session.  Mr. Havens 

seconded the motion.  The Clerk called the roll. Mr. Greenwood, yes; Mr. Havens, yes; Mr. Hoke, yes; Dr. 

Van Veldhuizen, yes; Mayor Schweller, yes.  The motion passed 5-0.  

 

Mrs. Dodd gave a short history of this project on Little Sugarcreek Road.  In March the City contracted 

these borings to determine the condition of the road.  Terracon was contracted to do the work.  Tonight’s 

work session is the result of their research.   

Mr. Gatermann introduced himself as a Geotechnical Engineer with Terracon Consultants.  He presented 

Council with the findings from the Geotechnical Engineering Report.  The report presented the findings 

of the subsurface exploration and provides a conceptual discussion regarding options for slope 

stabilization and a pedestrian walkway as well as preliminary designs for drilled shaft retaining walls.  

The field work consisted of 10 test borings along the northbound land spaced 250 to 350 feet apart.  The 

test borings went 17 to 30 feet deep all terminating in bedrock.  The depth of the bedrock is important 

for purewall design.   

Mr. Gatermann presented options including:  



RECORD OF PROCEEDINGS 
Minutes of Bellbrook City Council Work Session and Regular Meeting 

July 26, 2021 
 

   2  

• Do nothing – not recommended 

• Short retaining structures – not recommended as these would not address deeper slides 

• Earthwork – not recommended as they can be very expensive especially considering the 

geometry of the area 

• Soil Nail Stabilization – large nails are drilled into the slope to hold it back.  These likely would not 

work with a sidewalk along the road. 

• Drilled Pier Retaining Wall – recommended due to effectiveness and ability to include a sidewalk. 

Mr. Hoke asked if Mr. Gatermann had noticed any localized drainage issues from the neighborhood to 

the west of the road.  Mr. Gatermann said he did not notice anything like that.  He believed he could be 

able to see the water flow if it continually flowed over the road. 

Mr. Gatermann explained the Soil Nail solution.  This is best when working with an existing road but 

would not be good if the City wants to add a sidewalk. 

The Mayor asked if the road has moved since the 2019 slip.  Mr. Gatermann answered that it did not 

look like it had slipped further.  Mrs. Dodd added that there is a device in place to measure slippage, but 

it is very costly to have a reading done.   

Mr. Havens suggested taking a reading twice a year to determine changes.  Mr. Gatermann said there is 

usually evidence by cracking and patching.   

Mr. Hoke asked if there was a factor for determining the difference in cost between soil nails and the 

retaining wall.  Mr. Gatermann estimated a cost between $100,000 to $200,000 per 100 feet of road.  

Mrs. Dodd reminded everyone that the original recommendation from LJB was for the drilled pier wall 

solution.  That report is available on the City website.  Mr. Gatermann added that the LJB estimate was 

made based on an area where the bedrock is the shallowest so it is probably low. 

Mr. Gatermann explained that Terracon’s solutions were prioritized including that the project will be 

undertaken in segments targeting the areas most prone to landslide movement first.   

Mayor Schweller asked what the next steps are.  Mr. Gatermann said the City now has good information 

to make informed choices.  To save money the City could wait and see what happens.  But there is a risk 

that something drastic could happen and there would be an emergency situation.   



RECORD OF PROCEEDINGS 
Minutes of Bellbrook City Council Work Session and Regular Meeting 

July 26, 2021 
 

   3  

Mr. Havens asked if heavy traffic could impact the road.  Mr. Gatermann responded that it would have 

to be very heavy vehicles such as ones used in construction to damage the road.   

Council thanked Mr. Gatermann and Terracon for the report. 

Dr. Van Veldhuizen made a motion to adjourn the work session.  Mr. Hoke seconded the motion.  All 

were in favor.  The work session adjourned at 6:50 p.m. 

 

REGULAR MEETING 

Mayor Schweller called the regular meeting to order at 7:00 pm.   

 

ROLL CALL 

Mr. Hoke, yes; Mr. Havens, yes; Dr. Van Veldhuizen; Mr. Greenwood, yes; Mrs. Middlestetter, yes; Mayor 

Schweller, yes. 

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

Mayor Schweller asked if anyone had any comments or corrections to the minutes of July 12. Hearing 

none he declared the minutes approved.   

 
MAYOR’S ANNOUNCEMENTS  

Mayor Schweller began by explaining that this would be Melissa Dodd’s last meeting as the City 

Manager.  Her last day of employment with the City will be Friday July 30.   

The search for a new City Manager is well under way and Council hoped to report back soon with the 

next City Manager.  He explained that Melissa was the third City Manager for Bellbrook. 

He thanked Melissa for the work she has done over the past three plus years that benefit Bellbrook and 

the greater Bellbrook-Sugarcreek community.  Melissa started with Bellbrook in April 2018, and one of 

the initial goals she was given was to focus on the revitalization of the downtown area.  This was a real 

strength of Melissa and she took the ball and ran with it. 

To name a few of her accomplishments: 

• She started off with  bike rack and park benches,  



RECORD OF PROCEEDINGS 
Minutes of Bellbrook City Council Work Session and Regular Meeting 

July 26, 2021 
 

   4  

• She applied for and received in excess of $350,000 in grant funding for pedestrian improvements 

in downtown Bellbrook,  

• She directed the creation of four little free libraries,  

• She worked with our Service Department to stripe the downtown streets to improve parking, 

• She was instrumental in closing off the drive in front of the dairy shed, 

• She led the charge and completed the update to the comprehensive plan and most recently,  

• She received Greene county funding for 75% of our Streetscape Plan project. 

He also said he would be remiss if we didn’t mention one of the biggest successes for both the City and 

Melissa came after the tremendous rains on March 20, 2020 that washed out the North Belleview bridge.  

The rains were classified as a 200-year storm.  Initially it looked like the repairs would cost approximately 

$400,000.  Through Melissa’s hard work, the city applied for and obtained $325,000, or 80% of the total 

project costs, from the Ohio Public Works Commission Emergency Program.  The application window 

was limited, and the requests were numerous.  This was in fact a big win for Bellbrook. 

Mayor Schweller also said that although she was only here a short time, she left a big footprint. 

He and all of Council thanked her for all she has done to benefit the City of Bellbrook. 

Mr. Hoke mentioned the many challenges the Mrs. Dodd faced including COVID, landslides, Fire and 

Police Contracts and many more.  He wished her all the best. 

Mr. Havens also thanked her and commented that she has a very big heart. 

Dr. Van Veldhuizen echoed all of those comments and wishes. 

Mr. Greenwood expressed thanks and stated that her passion and drive would be missed. 

Mrs. Middlestetter also expressed her thanks for how Mrs. Dodd faced her job and all challenges that 

arose.  

 

PUBLIC HEARING OF ORDINANCES  - none 

INTRODUCTION OF ORDINANCES  - none 

RESOLUTIONS - none 

OLD BUSINESS  



RECORD OF PROCEEDINGS 
Minutes of Bellbrook City Council Work Session and Regular Meeting 

July 26, 2021 
 

   5  

The City Manager provided an updated table showing the current status of the 2021 Council Goals.  She 

reported that each of the Council Committees had met and been updated. 

 

NEW BUSINESS - none 

CITY MANAGER REPORT 

Mrs. Dodd reported the following: 

• Contract Employee for Zoning – Mrs. Dodd reported that she reached out to Greene County Regional 

Planning about the possibility of contracting a Zoning Assistant through the end of 2021.  The lack of 

a Zoning Administrator has created a large increase in work for the remaining staff who now have to 

pick up this workload.  This has to be the priority when a resident comes to the office or calls.  Greene 

County Regional Planning Executive Committee met regarding contracting with them for assistance. 

They are also short staffed at this time which does not afford them the capacity to assist us. 

• 2021 Paving Program – Milling began the week of July 12 and paving the week after. Knob Hill ended 

up being omitted from the paving list this year due to some of the other streets measuring slightly 

more.  

• Cable Channel Update – The line move for the cable access channel is awaiting installation from 

Spectrum. The equipment has been ordered. This will require a supplemental appropriation in a 

future ordinance for approximately $20,000 to cover all costs. This is necessary to keep us on the air 

and eligible to receive our annual cable franchise fees which equate to about $105,000 per year.  

• Quarterly Finance Update – Due to the finance software conversion some bugs are still being worked 

out.  Due to this the quarterly finance update for this meeting is not ready.   

• City Manager Transition –a detailed list of ongoing projects has been compiled which includes 

contact names and pertinent information. This will be left for the next City Manager. 

 

COMMITTEE REPORTS 

Service – Mr. Greenwood reported that the paving has been completed.  He also explained that while 

the new gas pipeline is being installed the Service Department has been able to make repairs 

including a water main that was broken.  



RECORD OF PROCEEDINGS 
Minutes of Bellbrook City Council Work Session and Regular Meeting 

July 26, 2021 
 

   6  

Safety – Mr. Hoke reported that Council will be taking a tour of the Dispatch Center on August 18 at 

12:30 PM. 

Finance – Dr. Van Veldhuizen reported that the Committee met with the auditor.  The audit was clean 

with no write-ups.  They did recommend that the City delete the Capital Improvement Fund.  

Mayor Schweller explained that the money would become part of the General Fund.  This would 

streamline processes for the City. 

Community Affairs – Mrs. Middlestetter stated that the Committee will try to meet soon to interview 

the candidates for the openings on the Village Review Board and BZA-PRC. 

 

CLERK’S REPORT  

Future Agenda Items (dates are subject to change) 

• August 9 - A Resolution Authorizing the City Manager to Enter into a Lease with Frygib, Inc. for Use 

of Wellfield Land Located on State Route 725 

• August 9 - Beautification Awards 

• October 11 – 6pm Budget Work Session– Administration & Service Departments 

• October 25 - 6pm Budget Work Session– Police & Fire Departments 

• November 8 – 6pm Budget Work Session– Capital Improvement Plan 

• November 22 – Introduction of 2022 Budget Ordinance 

• December 13 - Public Hearing of 2022 Budget Ordinance 

 

COMMENTS 

Mr. Greenwood again thanked Mrs. Dodd. 

Mr. Havens echoed that and added that he is looking forward to the High School Football season. 

Mr. Hoke also thanked the City Manager.  He also gave a shout-out to all the parents of student athletes 

who work so hard. 

Mrs. Middlestetter wished Mrs. Dodd all the best in her new job. 



RECORD OF PROCEEDINGS 
Minutes of Bellbrook City Council Work Session and Regular Meeting 

July 26, 2021 
 

   7  

Dr. Van Veldhuizen also thanked Mrs. Dodd for all her work as City Manager. 

Mayor Schweller  repeated the well wishes. 

  

PUBLIC COMMENT  

Louie Schatzberg, 4293 Alex Trail, wished Mrs. Dodd well and thanked her for all the hard work that 

mostly happens behind the scenes. 

 

ADJOURNMENT TO EXECUTIVE SESSION 

Mrs. Middlestetter made a motion to enter executive session at 7:28 PM.  The motion was seconded by 

Dr. Van Veldhuizen.  The Clerk called the roll.  Mrs. Middlestetter, yes; Dr. Van Veldhuizen, yes; Mr. 

Havens, yes; Mr. Hoke, yes; Mr. Greenwood, yes; Mayor Schweller, yes.  The motion passed 6-0. 

ADJOURNMENT 

Council exited executive session and the Mayor announced that there was no further business and 

adjourned the meeting at 8:30 PM. 

  

______________________________________ 
Michael W. Schweller, Mayor 
 

____________________________________ 
Pamela Timmons, Clerk of Council  





RECORD OF RESOLUTIONS 
 

Resolution No. 2021-AA August 9, 2021 
 

  1  

CITY OF BELLBROOK, OHIO 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2021-AA 
 

An Emergency Resolution by Bellbrook City Council to Accept the Material Terms 
of The OneOhio Subdivision Settlement Pursuant to The OneOhio Memorandum of 
Understanding and Consistent with the Terms of the July 21, 2021, National Opioid 
Settlement Agreement  
 

WHEREAS, the City of Bellbrook, Ohio is a municipality formed and organized pursuant to the 

Constitution and laws of the State of Ohio; and 

 WHEREAS, the people of the State of Ohio and its communities have been harmed by 

misfeasance, nonfeasance and malfeasance committed by certain entities within the Opioid 

Pharmaceutical Supply Chain; and 

 WHEREAS, the State of Ohio, through its Attorney General, and certain Local Governments, 

through their elected representatives and counsel, are separately engaged in litigation seeking to hold 

Opioid Pharmaceutical Supply Chain Participants accountable for the damage caused by their 

misfeasance, nonfeasance and malfeasance; and 

 WHEREAS, the State of Ohio, through its Governor and Attorney General, and its Local 

Governments share a common desire to abate and alleviate the impacts of that misfeasance, nonfeasance 

and malfeasance throughout the State of Ohio; and 

 WHEREAS, the State and its Local Governments, subject to completing formal documents 

effectuating the Parties Agreements, have drafted and the City of Bellbrook, Ohio has adopted, and hereby 

reaffirms its adoption of, a OneOhio Memorandum of Understanding (“MOU”) relating to the allocation 

and the use of the proceeds of any potential settlements described; and 

 WHEREAS, the MOU has been collaboratively drafted to maintain all individual claims while 

allowing the State and Local Governments to cooperate in exploring all possible means of resolution; and 

WHEREAS, City Council understands that an additional purpose of the MOU is to create an 

effective means of distributing any potential settlement funds obtained under the MOU between the State 

of Ohio and Local Governments in a manner and means that would promote an effective and meaningful 

use of the funds in abating the opioid epidemic throughout Ohio, as well as to permit collaboration and 



RECORD OF RESOLUTIONS 
 

Resolution No. 2021-AA August 9, 2021 
 

  2  

explore earlier resolution of the Opioid Litigation against Opioid Pharmaceutical Supply Chain 

Participants; and 

 WHEREAS, nothing in the MOU binds any party to a specific outcome, but rather, any resolution 

under the MOU requires acceptance by the State of Ohio and the Local Governments; and  

 WHEREAS, a settlement proposal is being presented to the State of Ohio and Local Governments 

by distributors AmerisourceBergen, Cardinal, and McKesson (collectively the “Settling Distributors”) to 

resolve governmental entity claims in the State of Ohio using the structure of the OneOhio MOU and 

consistent with the material terms of the July 21, 2021 proposed National Opioid Distributor Settlement 

Agreement; and 

 WHEREAS, City Council wishes to agree to the material terms of the proposed National Opioid 

Distributor Settlement Agreement with the Settling Distributors (the “Proposed Settlement”):  

 
NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY OF BELLBROOK, HEREBY RESOLVES: 

 
Section 1.  That City Council hereby accepts the Proposed Settlement on behalf of the 

City of Bellbrook, pursuant to the terms of the OneOhio MOU.  

Section 2.  That it is found and determined that all formal actions of the City Council 

relating to the adoption of this Resolution were adopted in an open meeting of this Council, and that all 

deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in such formal action, were in 

meetings open to the public, in compliance with all legal requirements, including §121.22 of the Revised 

Code of the State of Ohio. 

Section 3.  This Resolution is hereby declared to be an emergency measure, necessary 

for the preservation of the public peace, health, welfare and safety of the City of Bellbrook.  The reason 

for the emergency is to ensure prompt pursuit of funds to assist in abating the opioid epidemic throughout 

Ohio. 

Section 4.  This Resolution shall be in full force and effect immediately upon adoption. 

 

PASSED this ____day of ___________________________________, 2021. 
 



RECORD OF RESOLUTIONS 
 

Resolution No. 2021-AA August 9, 2021 
 

  3  

 
 
_______________________________________ 
Michael W. Schweller, Mayor 
 
 
 
 
_______________________________________ 
Pamela Timmons, Clerk of Council 
 
 
 
 
 
















	Blank Page
	Blank Page

